IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO
Civil Action No.
____________________________________
:
:
:
Plaintiff,
:
:
v.
:
:
Bryan K. Treadway,
:
:
Defendant.
:
____________________________________:
Securities and Exchange Commission,

COMPLAINT
Plaintiff the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”), for its complaint,
alleges as follows:
A.

Summary
1.

This matter involves the conduct of Bryan K. Treadway in connection with a

scheme by Qwest Communications International, Inc. (“Qwest”) to inflate revenue and earnings
artificially.
2.

The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by

Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") [15 U.S.C. § 78u] to
impose a civil money penalty to address Defendant Treadway's conduct.
3.

The Commission seeks an order requiring Defendant Treadway to pay forty

thousand dollars ($40,000.00) in civil money penalties pursuant to Section 21(d)(3) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)].

B.

Jurisdiction and Venue
4.

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(d) and 27 of

the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d) and 78aa]. Venue lies in this Court pursuant to Section
27 of the Exchange Act.
5.

Certain of the transactions, acts, practices and courses of business alleged herein

occurred within this judicial district.
C.

The Defendant
6.

Defendant Treadway, 39, of Atlanta, Georgia, was hired by Qwest

Communications International Inc. (“Qwest”) in April 2001 as assistant controller and was
promoted to controller in January 2002. Treadway resigned from Qwest in May 2002.
Treadway is licensed as a certified public accountant in Georgia and is currently employed by a
publicly owned company based in Atlanta, Georgia.
D.

Related Party
7.

Qwest, based in Denver, Colorado, is one of the largest telecommunications and

Internet services companies in the United States. Qwest’s common stock is registered with the
Commission pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, and the company is obligated to file
reports on Forms 10-K and 10-Q. Qwest’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange.
E.

Factual Allegations
Qwest’s Improper Accounting for Indefeasible Rights of Use (“IRUs”) Transactions
8.

During 2001 and earlier, Qwest emphasized in Commission filings and in public

statements its projected revenues and earnings growth, and issued aggressive growth and revenue
targets to the investment community. In turn, Qwest’s most senior executives, including
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Treadway’s superiors, placed extraordinary pressure throughout the company to meet or exceed
the publicly announced revenue targets. Qwest could not, however, meet its targets through
transactions generating recurring revenue. The lack of recurring revenue created a gap between
Qwest’s publicly stated revenue targets and actual revenue.
9.

To make up for the shortfall between Qwest’s actual revenue and its projected

revenue targets, Qwest relied on one-time sales of portions of its network in the form of IRUs.
An IRU is an irrevocable right to use specific fiber optic cable or fiber capacity for a specified
time period. Qwest accounted for IRUs as sales-type leases, and recognized that revenue
immediately.
10.

Prior to Treadway's arrival at Qwest and as far back as 1999, Qwest’s accounting

department failed to maintain proper accounting policies, procedures, and practices relating to
IRU revenue recognition generally and immediate revenue recognition on IRUs in particular.
Furthermore, Qwest’s IRU revenue recognition policy, which was put into place two years prior
to Treadway's arrival at the company, failed to meet several generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) criteria and Qwest improperly recognized approximately $1 billion in IRU
revenue during fiscal year 2001. While Treadway did not independently examine Qwest's IRU
policy that had been implemented in 1999, he was aware of certain red flags suggesting Qwest's
IRU accounting was not in conformity with GAAP. As a result, Treadway failed to ensure that
Qwest’s IRU accounting met the immediate revenue recognition criteria under GAAP, and did
not confirm that Qwest had an adequate system of internal controls and procedures concerning
its IRU accounting.
11.

Starting in the summer of 2001 through early 2002, Treadway learned information

that suggested Qwest’s upfront revenue recognition on IRUs was not in compliance with GAAP.
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Treadway learned that Qwest sometimes allowed customers to return or “port” the assets
purchased in exchange for different assets. On two occasions, Treadway did not inform Qwest's
auditors of accounting issues raised by legal opinions concerning promises by Qwest to port.
Moreover, Treadway became concerned with Qwest’s ability to pass title, the fair market value
of IRUs, the failure to identify IRU inventory, and the business purpose of IRU sales. Had
Treadway independently examined Qwest’s established accounting policies and practices for
IRUs after learning of these red flags, he would have determined that Qwest’s revenue
recognition on IRU sales was not in accordance with GAAP.
12.

Qwest's improper accounting for IRUs resulted in material misstatements of the

company's revenues, income and earnings per share in, among others, Qwest's periodic reports
filed with the Commission on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, on Form 10-Q
for the quarters ended June 30 and September 30, 2001, and earnings releases attached to
Qwest's current reports on Form 8-K filed with the Commission for the same periods. Treadway,
along with others, was responsible for the content of the quarterly reports and annual report and
he reviewed them prior to their filing with the Commission. He also reviewed the earnings
releases filed with the Commission in Qwest's Forms 8-K for the same periods and reviewed the
Forms 8-K before they were filed with the Commission.
Arizona School Facilities Board
13.

In January 2001, the Arizona School Facilities Board ("ASFB") and Qwest

entered into an agreement providing that Qwest would design and implement a statewide
network and provide internet and local area network connections for Arizona schools within a
two-year period using equipment provided by Qwest. In an effort to meet aggressive revenue
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targets, Qwest separated the equipment sale from the installation services of the ASFB contract,
wrongfully characterizing the sale as a bill and hold transaction under GAAP.
14.

Treadway was involved in the decision to characterize inappropriately the sale as

a bill and hold transaction. Treadway knew, and informed others, that a bill and hold sale would
be closely scrutinized by the auditors. Treadway knew that failure to meet any of the GAAP
requirements for a bill and hold sale would make recognition of the revenue indefensible.
Treadway requested that other Qwest personnel provide him with documentation of facts
sufficient to satisfy the GAAP requirements for a bill and hold sale. In fact, Treadway authored
an e-mail message on June 23, 2001, saying that he was "very supportive" in making the bill and
hold deal work but was concerned about "ensuring the facts hang together" if questioned.
15.

In June 2001, Treadway reviewed and edited a memorandum which contained

false information analyzing the transaction with ASFB as a bill and hold transaction. Had
Treadway independently examined the facts stated in the memorandum, he would have learned
that the memorandum contained false information regarding the bill and hold nature of the
transaction and the delivery schedule for the equipment.
16.

As a result of the characterization of the transaction with the ASFB as a bill and

hold transaction, Qwest improperly recognized approximately $34 million in revenue on the sale
of the equipment in its second quarter ended June 30, 2001. As a result, Qwest's June 30, 2001
and September 30, 2001 quarterly reports were materially false and misleading.
Understatements of Compensated Absences Expense and Failure to Disclose
Changes in Accounting Methodology
17.

Prior to June 30, 2001, Qwest established and consistently maintained a standing

liability for compensated absences (paid time off) of its occupational employees equal to 100
percent of the compensated absences owed to these employees for the entire year. Qwest’s
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occupational employees were credited with all of their compensated absences for the year on
January 1. The employees’ rights to receive payment for each year’s vacation were fully vested
and not contingent upon performing future services.
18.

To help meet its 2001 financial targets, Qwest, on three occasions, improperly

reduced its compensated absences liability resulting in the understatement of 2001 pre-tax loss
by $71.3 million, thereby increasing EBITDA by $71.3 million. The first improper adjustment
reduced the June 30, 2001 compensated absences liability by 50 percent resulting in a $44.5
million decrease to Qwest’s second quarter selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”)
expenses. The second adjustment made to Qwest’s year-end December 31, 2001 financial
statements improperly reduced the then-current liability by an additional 50 percent resulting in
Qwest’s fourth quarter and full year SG&A expenses being reduced by an additional $23.5
million. Finally, in early 2002, Qwest improperly reduced its December 31, 2001 compensated
absences liability and SG&A expenses by another $5 million. Treadway, pursuant to the
instructions of others, carried out these reductions. Treadway did not adequately evaluate the
rationale for these reductions. Had Treadway fully evaluated the rationale for these reductions,
he would have learned that these reductions were improper.
19.

Contrary to GAAP, Qwest failed to disclose its change in accounting for

compensated absences and the resulting 2001 financial impact of this change in its filings with
the Commission, including its Forms 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2001 and September
30, 2001, and its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001. Treadway, along with
others, reviewed Qwest’s Forms 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2001 and September 30,
2001, and its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 before they were filed, but failed
to add disclosures of these changes.

6

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and
Exchange Act Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11 and 13a-13)
20.

Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 19 above.

21.

By reason of the foregoing, Qwest violated Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15

U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11 and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20,
240.13a-1, 240.13a-11 and 240.13a-13], and Treadway aided and abetted Qwest’s violations.
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act)
22.

Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 21 above.

23.

By reason of the foregoing, Qwest violated Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B)

of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and (B)], and Treadway aided and abetted
Qwest’s violations.
THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act)
24.

Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 23 above.

25.

Defendant Treadway knowingly circumvented a system of internal accounting

controls, knowingly failed to implement a system of internal accounting controls, and knowingly
falsified books, records, or accounts described in Section 13(b)(2) of the Exchange Act.
26.

By reason of the foregoing, Treadway violated Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange

Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5)].
FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Exchange Act Rule 13b2-1)
27.

Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 26 above.
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28.

Qwest’s books, records and accounts were subject to Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the

Exchange Act. Defendant Treadway, directly or indirectly, falsified or caused to be falsified
such books, records or accounts.
29.

By reason of the foregoing, Treadway violated Exchange Act Rule 13b2-1 [17

C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1].
FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2)
30.

Plaintiff repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 29 above.

31.

Defendant Treadway, directly or indirectly, made materially false or misleading

statements, or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, to Qwest’s accountants
and/or independent auditors in connection with an audit or examination of Qwest’s financial
statements or in the preparation or filing of Qwest’s documents or reports filed with the
Commission.
32.

By reason of the foregoing, Treadway violated Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court order Defendant
Treadway to pay a civil money penalty in the amount of $40,000 under Section 21(d)(3) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)].
Dated: ____________________, 2005.
Respectfully submitted,

___________________________________
Mary S. Brady, Esq.
Rebecca L. Franciscus, Esq.
Attorneys for Plaintiff
Securities and Exchange Commission
1801 California Street, Suite 1500
Denver, CO 80202
Phone: (303) 844-1000
Fax: (303) 844-1010
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